I am respectfully asking you to reverse the decision made by the Worker's Compensation Board of 

Review dated January 5, 2022, in regards to JCN 2020023628. 

This claim was filed on behalf of my family by my husband's employer, Buckeye Community Hope. My 

husband was killed in a car accident on March 30, 2020, as he was traveling home from work. The 

justification stated to me by the employer is that Jonathan was still on company time while traveling 

home. He transported work materials such as tools, lumber, etc. Jonathan also continued to work after 

he arrived home. He did timesheets for employees, billing, calls with supervisors, calls with suppliers, 

etc. Telephone records and text messages were submitted as evidence of Jonathan's work from home. 

Buckeye is no~ prot€!sJi_Qg the_cJc1 im; they initiated the claim as an act of goodwill toward our family. _ __ ___ _ 

In the appeal filed by Lisa Hunter on behalf of Traveler's Insurance, it is stated, "Injuries arising from the 

ordinary use of street and highways do not result from employment .... unless such use is required of the 

employee in the performance of his duties for the employer." Ms. Hunter cited Buckland v. State 



Compensation Comm'r. In contrast the decision by the Office of the Judges states, "Various nuances of 

the rule (coming and going) may serve to alter its application where additional evidence exists linking 

the employer to the accident." The decision cites the case of Courtless v. Joliffe. In this case, Joliffe 

owned his vehicle but was paid $400 monthly, the amount of his monthly truck payment, along with 

maintenance and repair costs and was provided gasoline. Carper v. Worker's Compensation was also 

cited. "Worker's Compensation law generally recognizes that an employee is entitled to compensation 

for an injury received while traveling on behalf of his employer's business." Not only was Jonathan 

transporting tools and supplies for this particular job, he also was provided a credit card to use for 

gasoline. The road where the accident occurred is the most direct route from the job site to our 

residence, so Jonathan did not deviate from his normal route or make stops on his way home. Larson's 

Worker's Compensation Law states, "However, in the majority of cases involving deliberate and 

substantial payment for the expenses of travel....the journey is held to be in the course of 

employment ... But in addition, there is at work the factor of making the journey part of the job, since it is 

a service to the employer to convey the premises of a major piece of equipment devoted to the 

employer's purpose." Jonathan not only transported hand tools and power tools but long ladders using 

ladder racks, dump trailers, walk boards, and other large items. He also hauled gravel and concrete for 

the jobsite using his personal vehicle. Additionally, the Office of the Judges stated, "Based on 

consideration of the above authorities it is concluded Mr. Miller's death occurred in the course of and as 

a result of his employment. The facts of this case demonstrate that the Dependents's claim is not 

precluded by the 'going and coming rule'. It is found that the preponderance of the evidence establishes 

that as a superintendent it was Mr. Miller's responsibility to transport tools on a daily basis to and from 

the Buckeye work site. This task was performed using his personal pickup truck. To compensate Mr. 

Miller for the use of his personal vehicle to accomplish this job task, Mr. Miller was provided a credit 

card to pay for fuel attendant to his going to and coming from the work site. Thus, it is evident that 



Buckeye has determined that in order to facilitate its business as a nonprofit corporation developing and 

facilitating affordable housing, it was necessary to sufficiently compensate superintendents for the use 

of their personal vehicles in transporting needed tools, as well as the supervisors themselves, to the job 

site. In this regard, it is determined that the journey was part of the job." The decision also states that 

" ... the use of superintendents' personal vehicles to transport tools to the worksite provides significant 

incidental benefits to the employer," ... the Dependent's claim is also compensable under the "payment 

for expense of travel rule," ... the Dependent's claim is also compensable under the employer's 

conveyance rule," and .... "the evidentiary record shows by preponderance that Mr. Miller would 

perform substantial work for Buckeye after leaving the construction site." 

The Board of Review stated on page 3 that it" . .. finds that Mr. Miller's employer is not linked to the 

accident. Further, Mr. Miller's work conditions do not qualify as exceptions to the 'going and coming 

rule ."' However, the evidence presented to The Board of Review is directly and overwhelmingly in 

opposition to this statement. The evidence to be considered by the Board of Review from my husband's 

employers is the clear fact that his employer, Buckeye, agrees with me that he was acting within the 

scope of his employment. There is no disputed fact available to contradict that Buckeye filed the claim 

on my behalf. Buckeye has encouraged and supported this process. Buckeye has never objected to my 

position or offered any evidence to the contrary that established Jonathan's circumstances were outside 

of the exception to the rule set forth in De Constantin. The Board's opinion is simply not supported by 

_j h~ facts that the_~ctua! parties hereto have_already agreed. __ _ 

Regarding the Board's analysis of "major deviation and an abandonment of any business purpose," the 

same is unsupported by the evidence before the Board. Syllabus Point 2 of Calloway states, " ... unless 

the deviation is so slight that the business purpose is not interrupted." There has been no evidence or 

testimony from Buckeye to establish the "deviation" the Board so heavily relies on as an interruption to 

the business purpose. Quite the contrary is the employer's support of my claim. 



Based upon the evidence provided , I ask that you reverse the decision made by the Board of Review 

and reinstate benefits to my family. 

Sincerely, 

cr:d~~ 
Jessica Miller 
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WORKERS' COMPENSATION APPEALS DOCKETING STATEME 

CL/\IMANl INFORMATION 
Claimant's Name: Jonathan Miller (Jessica Miller) 
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Nature of Injury: - ---,--- -,-------,------,-,---=-----==---------,-------- - -
Age: 37 Is the Claimant still working? □Yes liNo. If yes, where: ______ _ 
Occupation: _con_ tra_ct_or _ _ _ ______________ No. of Years: ______ _ _ 
Was the claim found to be compensable? liYes □No If yes, order date: ____ _ ___ _ 

ADDITIONAL INFORMA TlON FOR PTD R[QUESTS 
Education (highest): _________ _ Old Fund or New Fund (please circle one) 
Date of Last Employment: ___ _ _ _____ _ _ ________ _ _ ___ _ 
Total amount of prior PPD awards: ( add dates of orders on separate page) 
Finding of the PTD Review Board: 

List all compensable conditions under this claim number: _de_a_th ___ _____ ____ __ _ 

(Attach a separate sheet if necessary) 

Are there any related petitions currently pending or previously considered by the Supreme Court? 
□Yes liNo 

(If yes, cite the case name, docket number and the manner in which it is related on a separate sheet.) 

Are there any related petitions currently pending below? □Yes liNo 
(If yes, cite the case name, tribunal and the manner in which it is related on a separate sheet.) 

If an appealing party is a corporation an extra sheet must list the names of parent corporations and the name 
of any public company that owns ten percent or more of the corporation's stock. If this section is not 
applicable, please so indicate below. 

D The corporation who is a party to this appeal does not have a parent corporation and no publicly held 
company owns ten percent or more of the corporation's stock. 

Do you know of any reason why one or more of the Supreme Court Justices should be disqualified from 
this case? □Yes ~No 
If so, set forth the basis on an extra sheet. Providing the information required in this section does not 
relieve a party from the obligation to file a motion for disqualification in accordance with Rule 33.