FILE COPY

# THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS CHARLESTON, WEST VIRGINIA

Jonathan Miller (decedent), Claimant,

Petitioner

v.

JCN No. SC No. 2020023628 22-0103

Buckeye Community Hope Foundation, Employer,

Respondent.

BRIEF ON BEHALF OF RESPONDENT BUCKEYE COMMUNITY HOPE FOUNDATION

Lisa Warner Hunter *WV Bar ID # 7523* WILLIAM J. FERREN & ASSOCIATES Mailing Address: PO Box 2903 HARTFORD, CT 06104-2903

Counsel for Respondent, Buckeye Community Hope Foundation

##

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The Board of Review was not clearly wrong to reverse and vacate the Office of Judges' July 14, 2021 decision and reinstate the May 8, 2020 order denying death/dependent's benefits because the Administrative Law Judge was clearly wrong to approve dependent's benefits since the decedent was driving recklessly on the main road through town after leaving work and was on his way home. Accordingly, the Board's order should not be disturbed on appeal. In accordance with the foregoing statutory directives and case law, and in recognition of the fact that it is now claims administrators, and not the Workers' Compensation Commission, who make initial rulings with respect to workers' compensation claims, this Court now expressly holds that, when reviewing a decision of the West Virginia Workers' Compensation Board of Review ("the Board"), this Court will give deference to the Board's findings of fact and will review de novo its legal conclusions. The decision of the Board may be reversed or modified only if it (1) is in clear violation of a constitutional or statutory provision; (2) is clearly the result of erroneous conclusions of law; or (3) is based upon material findings of fact that are clearly wrong. Moran v. Rosciti Constr. Co., LLC, No. 17-0993, 2018 WL 2769077 (W. Va. June 4, 2018).

The Board of Review shall reverse a final order if the substantial rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the Administrative Law Judge's findings are (1) in violation of statutory provisions; (2) in excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the Administrative Law Judge; (3) made upon unlawful procedures; (4) affected by other error of law; (5) clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or (6) arbitrary or capricious or chara :terized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. W. Va. Code § 23-5-12(b)(2005).

When the Office of Judges performs its duty as trier of fact and reviews the evidence of record in this claim, it is required to do so under the preponderance of the evidence standard set forth by statute. West Virginia Code § 23-4-1g, as amended by S. B. 2013 (2003) states:

(a) For all awards made on or after the effective date of the amendment and reenactment of this section during the year two thousand three, resolution of any issue raised in administering this chapter shall be based on a weighing of all evidence pertaining to the issue and a finding that a preponderance of the evidence supports the chosen manner of resolution. The process of weighing evidence shall include, but not be limited to, an assessment of the relevance, credibility, mate iality and reliability that the evidence possesses in the context of the issue presented. Under no circumstances will an issue be resolved by allowing certain evidence to be dispositive simply because it is reliable and is most favorable to a party's interests or position. If, after weighing all of the evidence regarding an issue in which a claimant has an interest, there is a finding that an equal amount of evidentiary weight exists favoring conflicting matters for resolution, the resolution that is most consistent with the claimant's position will be adopted.

(b) Except as provided in subsection (a) of this section, a claim for compensation filed pursuant to this chapter must be decided on its merit and not according to any principle that requires statutes governing workers' compensation to be liberally construed because they are remedial in nature. No such principle may be used in the application of law to the facts of a case arising out of this chapter or in determining the constitutionality of this chapter.

#### W. Va. Code § 23-4-1g (2003).

The Board properly reversed and vacated the Administrative Law Judge's decision since the Judge clearly erred in reversing the May 8, 2020 order denying the claim for dependent's benefits based on the fact that the decedent was driving home after completing work for the day, was traveling on the main road through Rainelle, WV, and was involved in a single vehicle accident that occurred when he attempted to pass in a no passing zone. The decision to accept this claim despite the fact that the decent was simply travelling home after work, was recklessly driving an excessive speed and passing in a no passing zone, and was not in the course of his employment was clearly wrong and severely prejudiced the employer.

W.Va. Code §23-4-10 provides that in case a personal injury, other than occupational pneumoconiosis or other occupational disease, suffered by an employee in the course of and resulting from his or her employment, causes death, and disability is continuous from the date of the injury until the date of death, or if death results from occupational pneumoconiosis or from any other occupational disease, the benefits shall be in the amounts and to the persons as follows:

... (b) If there are dependents as defined in subdivision (d) of this section, the dependents shall be paid for as long as their dependency continues in the same amount that was paid or would have been paid the deceased employee for total disability had he or she lived. The

order of preference of payment and length of dependence shall be as follows:

(1) A dependent widow or widower until death or remarriage of the widow or widower, and any child or children dependent upon the decedent until each child reaches eighteen years of age or where the child after reaching eighteen years of age continues as a full-time student in an accredited high school, college, university, business or trade school, until the child reaches the age of twenty-five years, or if an invalid child, to continue as long as the child remains an invalid. All persons are jointly entitled to the amount of benefits payable as a result of employee's death;

"[T]he Commissioner shall disburse the workers' compensation fund to the employees... [who] have received personal injuries in the course of and resulting from their covered employment...." W. Va. Code § 23-4-1 (1999).

Injuries arising from the ordinary use of streets and highways do not result from employment of the injured workman and are not compensable when they occur from causes to which all persons travelling the street are equally exposed, unless such use is required of the employer in the performance of his duties for the employer, was stated by our Supreme Court in <u>Buckland v. State</u> Compensation Comm'r. 175 S.E. 785, 115 W.Va. 323 (W.Va. 1934).

In general, "[u]nder normal circumstances, an employee's use of a public highway going to or coming from work is not considered to be in the course of employment. The reasoning underlying this rule is that the employee is being exposed to a risk identical to that of the general public; the risk is not imposed by the employer." <u>Brown v. City of Wheeling</u>, 212 W.Va. 121, 125, 569 S.E.2d 197, 201 (2002). An injury incurred by a workman in the course of his travel to his place of work and not on the premises of the employer does not give right to participation in such fund unless the place of injury was brought within the scope of employment by an express or implied requirement in the contract of employment of its use by the servant in going to and returning from his work. <u>Id</u>.

This Court addressed a similar issue in <u>Williby v. West Virginia Insurance Commissioner</u>, 224 W.Va. 358, 686 S.E.2d 9 (2009). In <u>Williby</u>, an employee was injured when she fell in the middle

of the road on uneven pavement and injured her shoulder. 224 W.Va. at 360. The employee worked as a bank teller and had clocked out for a fifteen-minute break to grab some lunch during a late morning break on a day when the bank was understaffed. <u>Id.</u> The Court upheld the Board of Review's ruling that the employee had not established that she was on a "special errand" and she was not injured in the course of and resulting from her employment. The Court outlined that an exception to the "going and coming" rule, which states that injuries occurring while going to or coming from work, while not on the premises of the employer, are not compensable, is the "special errand" exception.

Id. at 362-363. The "special errand" exception is as follows:

When an employee, having identifiable time and space limits on his employment, makes an off-premises journey which would normally not be covered under the usual going and coming rule, the journey may be brought within the course of employment by the fact that the trouble and time of making the journey, or urgency of making it in the particular circumstances, is itself sufficiently substantial to be viewed as an integral part of the service itself.

Id. at 363; <u>Harris v. State Workmen's Comm'r</u>, 158 W.Va. 66, 70-71, 208 S.E.2d 291, 293-94 (1974). In <u>Williby</u>, the employee stated that she fell because of uneven pavement on a public street, she was not conducting business for the bank at the time of the injury, and the bank did not have any control over what she could, or could not do, on her break.

This Court addressed the issue of a deviation from work in <u>Calloway v. State Workmen's</u> <u>Compensation Comm'r</u>, 268 S.E.2d 132, 165 W.Va. 432 (W.Va. 1980). At Syllabus 2, the Court explained where the employee deviates from the employer's business, he may be denied compensation if the injury occurs during the deviation, unless the deviation is so slight that the business purpose is not interrupted. Once the employee ceases the deviation and returns to the employer's business, a subsequent injury is ordinarily compensable. The issue in the subject claim was the dependent's protest to the May 8, 2020 order denying the claim for dependent's benefits. The basis of the denial was that the fatal accident did not occur in the course of and result from the decedent's employment as he had completed work at the job site and was traveling home on the main road. The drive home after the end of the workday is not covered as this is coming and going from work and is excluded from workers' compensation. An exception to this rule is the "special errand exception" discussed by the Court in <u>Williby</u>.

The dependent completed an application for dependent's benefits based on the March 30, 2020 accident. On the application, she indicates that the decedent had left the job site for the day and was heading home on the same route that he drives every day. The accident occurred during his drive home. There is no allegation made or proven in this record showing that the decedent was performing a "special errand" on the date of accident of March 30, 2020.

In her protest letter, the dependent indicated that, on the day of his death, he had been working at the Sewell Landing project in Rainelle, WV. His job responsibilities *generally* included using his vehicle to transport tools to the job site daily. The employer provided the decedent with a credit card to be used for his fuel for the commute to and from work. In the afternoons, the decedent would complete work time sheets from home. At the end of each week, he sent the total time for each employee to his supervisor from home. Additionally, he took work related calls in the evenings after arriving home and on weekends. The employer reimbursed him for his cell phone bill monthly.

The dependent filed a statement from a coworker, Mr. Bowen. He states that he worked with the decedent as superintendents and they carry tools to and from work in addition to taking phone calls and doing paperwork at home. Mr. Bowen was also questioned by the state police at the time of the accident. He confirmed that he and the decedent were on their way home following completion of work that day. Mr. Bowen also advised the employer, Mr. Stidham, that he and the decedent were on their way home on the date of the accident after completing work for the day. The issue before the Office of Judges was whether the decedent was in the course of his employment at the time of the accident and whether his employment caused his death. The evidence clearly establishes that, at the time of the motor vehicle accident, the decedent had completed work for the day and was driving home on the main road through Rainelle, WV. The decedent was exposed to the same hazards as anyone else driving on the main road. This travel home following work is excluded from workers' compensation under the coming and going rule.

The claimant's evidence indicates that the decedent sometimes performed work tasks outside of the regular work hours as a superintendent for the employer. This is not disputed by the employer. However, at the time of the accident around 7:00 PM on March 30, 2020, the decedent was simply driving home after work. The objective evidence establishes that the decedent was not within the zone of employment as he was not furthering the employer's business at the time of the accident. He was simply driving home and driving to and from work (coming and going), which is not in the course of a person's employment.

Administrative Law Judge J. Marty Mazeska reversed the denial of this claim despite the clear fact that the decedent was driving home after work on the main road with all others that travel the main road in the act of coming and going from work, which is not accepted as within the course of a person's employment. Judge Mazeska correctly noted that the decedent left the work site at around 7:00 p.m. At 7:12 p.m., he was in a single vehicle accident causing his death. He noted that the decedent was driving recklessly, passing in a no passing zone, and wrecked his vehicle.

Judge Mazeska acknowledges the case law establishing that traditionally a person is not in the course of employment while coming and going to work. An exception to the coming and going rule can be found if the place of injury is brought within the scope of employment by an express or implied requirement in the contract of employment. This is the special errand exception. The Administrative Law Judge cites to the case <u>Carper v. Workmen's Compensation Comm'r.</u>, which is a 1939 case that

states "an employee is entitled to compensation for an injury sustained in going to or from his work, only where such injury occurs within the zone of his employment, and that zone must be determined by the circumstances of the particular case presented" and the <u>Calloway v. State Workmen's</u> <u>Compensation Comm'r</u> 2002 case stating "that an employee is entitled to compensation for an injury received while traveling on behalf of his employer's business."

The case law cited by the Administrative Law Judge explains that the facts of each case must be scrutinized to determine if the employee is rendering a service to the employer at the time of the accident/injury or when there is an incidental benefit to the employer that is not common to ordinary commuting trips. In our claim, the facts establish only that the decedent was driving himself home after completing his work for the day. The evidence does not establish that he was transporting tools or equipment home from the work site on March 30, 2020 nor that he was on his way going anywhere other than home. The fact that the decedent would have traveled home after work is not an incidental benefit to the employer that makes it any different than any normal commute home from work.

Judge Mazeska also discussed the <u>Brown</u> case from 1980. The facts of that case are distinguishable from this case since the employee in <u>Brown</u> was traveling as a passenger in a vehicle driven by a co-worker while they were returning from employment required training at the State Police Academy. This training session was clearly a different fact scenario than the subject employee/decedent who was driving on the same route that he drove every day to/from work on the main road through the city by himself. Our employee was traveling home from the work site whereas the <u>Brown</u> employee was returning to town following a mandatory training session. The "special errand" in the <u>Brown</u> case was traveling out-of-town for a work-related training session.

Judge Mazeska also cited the <u>Courtless v. Jolliffe</u> case from 1998. As he acknowledged, this case was on appeal to the West Virginia Supreme Court regarding a motion for summary judgment granted by the Circuit Court in a civil case where the plaintiff was attempting to hold the employer

liable for the employee's actions towards a third party while driving. Judge Mazeska cites to a few of the findings in <u>Courtless</u> regarding the traditional rule excluding coming and going from workers' compensation and determining whether there is a link between the employer and the accident.

Our Court in <u>Courtless</u> cited to a case, <u>Standley v. Johnson</u>, 276 So.2d 77 (Fl.App. 1973), addressing the "going and coming" rule within the context of a respondeat superior claim, wherein an employee had traveled to a drugstore to purchase medicine for his wife on his way to work. The employee, Johnson, also had some tools in his truck that he had carried home that weekend. Our Court cited the Standley holding as follows:

> It is the well recognized rule that an employee driving to or from work is not within the scope of employment so as to impose liability on the employer. This is true even though the car driven by the employee is used in his work and partly maintained by the employer, Foremost Dairies, Inc. of the South v. Godwin, 158 Fla. 245, 26 So.2d 773 (1946). However, in the case at bar, Johnson was doing more than merely driving to work. He adduced evidence that he had been instructed to keep the lawn mower filled with gas and was in fact transporting gas to the nursery as part of his job and for the benefit of his employer.

(*Id. at 78*, emphasis mine) Judge Mazeska either ignored or did not acknowledge this holding discussed by the <u>Courtless</u> Court indicating that the employee was not within the scope of employment even though he was driving the vehicle used in his work and partly maintained by the employer. The Court explained that in addressing whether the employee was acting within the scope of his employment at the time of the collision, it requires the reviewer "[t]o develop a complete and exhaustive determination of that application, all facts surrounding Princess' connection to the truck involved in the accident and the purposes for the travel undertaken by Mr. Jolliffe *on the day of the accident* must be discovered."

The <u>Courtless</u> Court cited to the <u>Harris v. State Workmen's Compensation Comm'r</u>, 158 W.Va. 66 (1974) case from this Court noting that the general rule that injuries incurred through the ordinary use of streets and highways while going or coming to work are not considered within the scope of employment unless the use is required by the employee in the performance of his duties for the employer. The <u>Courtless</u> Court noted that the exception was designated as the "special errand" exception to the going and coming rule and was held *inapplicable* in <u>Harris</u> due to the absence of any requirement that the employee return home to retrieve tools while in route between job sites.

Judge Mazeska also either simply ignored or failed to acknowledge the requirement to assess the exact purpose for the travel on the day of the accident. Judge Mazeska concludes that the accident occurred in the course of his employment because it was his responsibility to transport tools on a daily basis to and from the work site. However, this is not a fact established in the record. The dependent filed a written letter stating that her husband carried tools to the work site daily as part of his job; however, the only witness statement that is not from the claimant alone was from Mr. Bowen. In his one sentence statement, he states only that he worked with the decedent as superintendents and they carry tools to and from work in addition to taking phone calls and doing paperwork at home. This does not establish that the decedent was required to carry tools to and from the work site every day. It especially does not establish that he was carrying tools to and from the work site on the relevant date, which is March 30, 2020.

As discussed above, this Court has acknowledged the fact that an employee who drives his own vehicle as part of his employment and is reimbursed in any manner by the employer for this use is not considered to be in the course of his employment any more than any other person that is driving to and from work. This does not provide an exception to the coming and going rule. Judge Mazeska also goes beyond the facts of this case by assuming that because the employer is a nonprofit corporation developing and facilitating affordable housing "it was necessary to sufficiently compensate superintendents for the use of their personal vehicles in transporting needed tools, as well as the supervisors themselves, to the job site." He states that "[i]n this regard it is determined that the journey is part of the job." This is an extreme leap in logic that is not supported by any facts in the record, and further, is not relevant to the issue of whether the decedent was engaged in a special errand that serves as an exception to the exclusion from workers' compensation by the coming and going rule.

Judge Mazeska does not discuss the most recent case from this jurisdiction that addresses the special errand exception to the coming and going rule. In <u>Williby</u>, this Court again addressed whether there was an exception to the coming and going rule that brought the claimant's travel within the zone of employment. The Court determined that the claimant was not within the zone of employment nor on a special errand while crossing the street to get lunch while on her break from the bank. In the subject claim, the decedent was not within the zone of employment as he was not travelling for a business purpose such as to an out-of-town training, but rather, was driving home after work. The fact that he was reimbursed for gas for his personal vehicle is not enough to bring the act of driving home on the ordinary street as done by everyone else within the zone of employment. Further, there is no evidence that the claimant was on a "special errand" since the facts of this claim establish that he was just driving home.

Every case discussed from our jurisdiction and even citations to cases from other jurisdictions are consistent in the requirement that the facts of the case on the date and at the time of the accident must be considered to determine whether there is an exception to the exclusion of the claim from workers' compensation by the coming and going rule. The Administrative Law Judge's decision to address generalizations about the decedent's six (6) month employment and the fact that he occasionally brought tools to/from the work site and picked up supplies during the day on occasion to establish an exception to the coming and going exclusion on the date and time of the accident was clearly wrong and severely prejudiced the employer.

Instead of following the case law established in our own jurisdiction, which clearly outlines the exclusion from workers' compensation when going and coming from work, the Administrative Law Judge cites to Larson's on workers' compensation. A treatise on workers' compensation is helpful as guidance to determine a possible trend of other jurisdictions to determine the trend in your own jurisdiction; however, this is not applicable or relevant regarding an issue that has already been specifically addressed in your own jurisdiction. Again, our <u>Courtless</u> Court explained that the exact facts regarding the date of accident must be assessed to determine whether any exception to the exclusion from workers' compensation in a going and coming case is required. The <u>Courtless</u> Court cited a similar case in another jurisdiction denying compensability in a going and coming case even though the employee drove a vehicle that was in part maintained by the employer. In that case, no exception applied despite this financial benefit of transportation because the claimant's actions on the specific date of accident did not establish that his employer required him to return home to retrieve tools while en route between job sites. This case was a denial on compensability even though the claimant was a travelling employee driving between job sites because his employer did not direct him to stop at his house. This was considered a deviation that took the employee out of the course of employment.

In the subject case, the decedent had a fixed job site and was simply driving home after finishing work on the date of accident. The Board of Review also correctly determined that, even if driving home at the end of the work day on the main road is considered to be within the course of employment, the claimant's act of reckless driving that led to the single motor vehicle accident clearly was not in furtherance of his employment and would take him out of the scope of his employment. The Board stated that "Mr. Miller's actions while driving home from work on March 30, 2020, establish a major deviation from any business purposed and an abandonment of his employment."

This Court has discussed the deviation from work issue in the <u>Calloway</u> case. The Court explained that the claimant takes himself out of the course of employment with a deviation. If the

injury occurs during the deviation, compensation is denied. In the subject claim, the claimant deviated from his employment by his reckless driving, driving at an excessive speed and passing vehicles in a no passing zone when the accident occurred. The injury occurred during the claimant's deviation from work, and therefore, the claim is not compensable.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the employer submits that the Board of Review's order reversing and vacating the Office of Judges' July 14, 2021 decision and reinstating the May 8, 20210 order denying dependent's benefits was not in clear violation of a constitutional or statutory provision, was not clearly the result of erroneous conclusions of law, nor was it based upon material findings of fact that are clearly wrong. Therefore, the employer respectfully requests that this Honorable Court refuse the claimant's Petition for Appeal from the Board of Review's January 5, 2022 order.

Thank you for your attention to this matter.